A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The federal and state constitutions prohibit the government from

placing an individual in jeopardy more than once for the same offense.

Sean Stoll was tried for two counts of the same offense against a single

individual over the same charging period. Over Mr. Stoll's objection,

the to- convict instructions were identical and the court's instructions to

the jury failed to make manifest that each count had to be based upon

separate and distinct acts. One ofMr. Stoll's resulting convictions

should be reversed.

This Court should also remedy an additional instructional error

that diluted the State's burden ofproof and several improper sentencing

findings and conditions.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Stoll was deprived of his Fifth Amendment right to be

free from double jeopardy because the jury instructions did not make

clear that a separate and distinct act was required for each count.

2. Instruction 3 misstated the definition ofproof beyond a

reasonable doubt and diluted the State's burden of proof.

3. The sentencing court erred in imposing discretionary costs

and fees.



4. In the absence of substantial evidence, the sentencing court

erred in finding Mr. Stoll has the likely ability to pay the legal financial

obligations imposed.

5. The sentencing court erred by ordering Mr. Stoll to pay for

the victim and her family's unspecified counseling and therapy costs as

a condition of community custody.

6. The sentencing court erred by ordering Mr. Stoll to undergo

plethysmograph testing at the direction of his community custody

officer in violation of his constitutional right to be free from

government intrusion into his body.

7. The sentencing court erred by including community custody

conditions related to alcohol prohibitions, in excess of its authority

under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA).

8. The sentencing court erred by including a condition of

community custody restricting Mr. Stoll's access to the internet, in

excess of the court's authority under the SRA.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The federal and state constitutions prohibit multiple

convictions for the same act. Where multiple counts of the same crime

are alleged to have occurred over the same period, the court's
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instructions should make clear to the jury that a guilty verdict on each

offense must be predicated on separate and distinct acts. Ifno such

instruction is provided, a double jeopardy violation occurs if the record

does not make the separate and distinct act requirement manifestly

clear to an average juror or if the instructional error was not harmless

beyond a reasonable doubt. Should one ofMr. Stoll's convictions be

vacated where the jury was not instructed as to the separate and distinct

act requirement, the requirement was not otherwise made manifestly

apparent, and the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

2. The jury's role is to decide whether the prosecution met its

burden ofproof, not to search for the truth. The court instructed the

jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an

abiding belief in the truth of the charge." When it is not the jury's job

to determine the truth, did the court misstate and dilute the burden of

proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on whether it

believed the charge was true?

3. Courts may not impose discretionary costs on defendants

unless they have a present or likely future ability to pay. A finding of

ability to pay must be supported by the evidence. Though the trial

court found Mr. Stoll indigent and no evidence of his ability to pay

3



discretionary costs was presented, the court entered a generic finding

that he had the present or future ability to pay and imposed

discretionary costs and fees. Did the sentencing court err in ordering

Mr. Stoll to pay discretionary fees and costs?

4. A sentencing court's authority is limited by the SRA. The

SRA does not authorize a court to order payment of counseling and

therapy costs as a condition of community custody. Did the court err

and improperly delegate its authority to the Department of Corrections

DOC) by ordering Mr. Stoll to pay the victim and her family's therapy

and counseling costs as a condition of community custody?

5. The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions

protect fundamental rights, such as the right to be free from

government intrusion in one's body. Qualified professionals may

utilize penile plethysmograph testing in the diagnosis and treatment of

sexual deviancy, but the test should not be used to monitor conditions

of community custody. Does the condition of community custody

requiring Mr. Stoll to submit to plethysmograph examinations as

required by his community corrections officer violate his constitutional

right to be free from bodily intrusions?
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6. Sentencing courts may only impose community custody

conditions specifically authorized by RCW9.94A.703, which includes

conditions that are crime - related. Did the sentencing court exceed its

authority by imposing conditions restricting Mr. Stoll's ability to enter

places where alcohol is sold; requiring submission to urinalysis and

breathalyzer testing; and prohibiting the possession and purchase of

alcohol where the conditions are neither specifically authorized nor

crime- related?

7. Did the sentencing court err by imposing a condition of

community custody restricting Mr. Stoll's access to the internet where

the condition is neither specifically authorized nor crime - related?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background.

Between 2006 and 2008, Leigh Ann Riker watched the children

of her friend Delaney Johnson and his fiancee Christine Windley at the

home of Delaney's mother (the children's grandmother), Diana

Johnson. 9/27/12 RP 222 -24, 243, 245 -47, 392 -93; 10/2/12 RP 453 -54,

457 -58. Leigh Ann slept on a couch in Diana's living room. 9/27/12

1 The three consecutively paginated volumes of trial are reffered by the
first date referenced on each volume, e.g., "9/21/12 RE" The Supplemental
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RP 224, 243, 247, 307; 10/2/12 RP 453 -54. The room was filled with

people on those nights. 9/27/12 RP 224 -25, 237 -39, 256 -61, 284, 305-

06. Delaney's oldest daughter, S.R.J., and his son C. slept on a twin

bed in the same room. 9/27/12 RP 224, 247. Christine and Delaney's

youngest child, J., often slept in his playpen in the living room.

9/27/12 RP 225, 268; see 9/27/12 RP 284.

Leigh Ann's adult son, Sean Stoll, lived in Diana's house

periodically. 9/27/12 RP 224; 10/2/12 RP 453 -54. The Johnson family

had known Leigh Ann and Mr. Stoll for 15 years. 9/27/12 RP 225,

265. When Mr. Stoll stayed the night, he slept in a sleeping bag on the

floor in the same living room in which his mother and the three

children slept. 9/27/12 RP 224 -25, 249; 10/2/12 RP 454 -55. Diana, the

grandmother, slept nearby in her bedroom. 9/27/12 RP 247. Delaney

and Christine also slept nearby in a second bedroom. 9/27/12 RP 247.

Diana's other son and Delaney's brother, Vance, slept in his van in the

driveway, but regularly came inside to use the bathroom or to get

Verbatim Report of Proceedings of February 27, 2009 and March 5, 2009 is
referred to as "Supp. RP."

2 The Johnsons are referred to by their first names to avoid confusion.
For consistency, Leigh Ann Riker and Christine Windley are also referred to by
their first names. No disrespect is intended.
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something to eat. 9/27/12 RP 239, 245 -47, 392 -93, 403 -04; 10/2/12 RP

456 -57.

To add to the crowd, Diana's eight - year -old grandson T.

sometimes stayed at the house. 9/27/12 RP 254; see Supp. RP 71 -74.

S.R.J. and he exhibited "some kind of sexual playing, acting out."

9/27/12 RP 254.

2. The charges.

Long after Mr. Stoll ceased living in Diana's home, S.R.J. one

day told her family that Mr. Stoll had touched her inappropriately. In

particular, S.R.J. told her father that "a while before, [or] a few months

before" Mr. Stoll "put his finger in her rear." 9/27/12 RP 226 -27.

S.R.J. told Diana, "that [during the night] Sean had asked her to get

down on the floor with him. And that he had put his finger up her

rectum and had told her that it would help her do — she was in

cheerleading — and he said that it would help her do the splits better

cause she was practicing all the time doing the splits." 9/27/12 RP

250. Without supplying a date or even timeframe, S.R.J. told Christine

that Mr. Stoll had put his finger down her butt crack. 9/27/12 RP 307,

315. In a subsequent interview, S.R.J. was surprisingly specific, stating

Mr. Stoll woke her up at 4:37 a.m. on April 24 two years before and
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used his "sack" (private part) to touch her "sack." Exhibit 4, pp.8 -10,

13 -14; 10/2/12 RP 432 -35.

The State charged Mr. Stoll with a single count of rape of child

in the first degree. CP 76. Eventually, the State amended the

information to charge two counts of rape of a child in the first degree,

both as to S.R.J. and both for the same April 24, 2006 to March 31,

2007 time period. CP 72 -73 (second amended information); CP 45 -46

third amended information); 9/21/12 RP 1 -3 (noting only change in

third amended information was addition of "separate and distinct act"

language in count two).

3. The trials.

Mr. Stoll was initially tried in 2009, but the jury could not reach

a verdict. See CP _ ( Sub # 42). The results of a subsequent trial

were overturned on appeal. CP 47 -54.

In September 2012, the State tried Mr. Stoll a third time for the

same charges. By this time, S.R.J. was 13 years old. 9/27/12 RP 225,

266. Her trial testimony differed markedly from her prior disclosures.

S.R.J. testified she first told others in 2008 or 2009. 9/27/12 RP 270-

72. She further testified she told Delaney that Mr. Stoll "had sex with

3 A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed for
documents cited by subfolder number,
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her," although Delaney testified she told him only that Mr. Stoll had

touched her in the rear. 9/27/12 RP 226 -27, 273. S.R.J. said she told

Diana the same thing, that he put both his penis and his finger in her

vagina and butt, although Diana also testified that S.R.J. told her only

that she had been touched in her butt. 9/27/12 RP 250, 273 -74; see

9/27/12 RP 321 -22 (similar contradiction with disclosure to Christine).

S.R.J. testified Mr. Stoll woke her up in the early morning when

everyone else in the living room and the neighboring bedrooms was

asleep, told her to get on the floor, pulled her nightgown up and her

underwear down and stuck his penis in her. 9/27/12 RP 275 -78, 295-

96. When it was over, she testified she replaced her clothes and went

back to bed. 9/27/12 RP 277. S.R.J. acknowledged she had originally

told people Mr. Stoll had only put his finger in her rectum and not that

he had sex with her; she admitted her testimony had changed. 9/27/12

RP 282 -83.

At this trial, S.R.J. alleged it happened more than once for a

couple weeks. 9/27/12 RP 276; see 10/2/12 RP 415 (testimony that

S.R.J. told witness abuse had happened everyday for about one week).

But she admitted she has previously testified that it only happened

once. 9/27/12 RP 292 -93; see Exhibits 7 and 8 (prior testimony).

E



Moreover, she could not recall when it had happened, except to say it

was a long time ago and a long time passed before she told her family.

9/27/12 RP 281 -82, 294. She admitted her memory had been fading.

9/27/12 RP 282.

The other witnesses could not provide more specific information

about when the alleged abuse occurred. Delaney testified he could not

recall when S.R.J. told him about her allegation. 9/27/12 RP 234.

Whenever that disclosure came, S.R.J. told Delaney the incident had

happened "a while before, a few months before." 9/27/12 RP 226 -27.

Diana also could not recall when the disclosure occurred except to say

it was much later, yes, than when it [allegedly] happened." 9/27/12

RP 252 -53; see 9/27/12 RP 253 -54 (can best approximate conversation

occurring at end of 2008 or beginning 2009). Diana could not say

when it was alleged to have occurred. 9/27/12 RP 253. In fact, Diana

could not even tell the jury when Mr. Stoll had stayed at the house.

9/27/12 RP 262.

The family also testified that S.R.J. had some problems with

telling the truth. 9/27/12 RP 240 -42.

Mr. Stoll requested the jury be instructed that the two counts be

based on separate and distinct acts, so as not to prejudice his right to be
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free from double jeopardy. 10/2/12 RP 462 -74. The court refused to

provide the instruction, ruling that a standard unanimity instruction was

sufficient. 10/2/12 RP 471 -74. In closing, the State simply argued that

sexual intercourse happened at least twice, without specifying the

occasions. 10/2/12 RP 486 ( "She testified it happened on more — more

than one occasion. So it happened at least twice. "). The jury convicted

Mr. Stoll of both counts. CP 24 -25. He now appeals those convictions

and the resulting judgment and sentence. CP 5, 7 -23.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The jury instructions violated Mr. Stoll's Fifth
Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy
because they allowed the jury to convict him of
multiple counts for the same act.

Mr. Stoll was convicted of two counts of rape of a child in the

first degree, which counts involved the same victim during the same

time period. The jury was provided a unanimity instruction, but was

never informed that it must base its convictions for the two offenses

upon separate and distinct acts. The evidence presented at trial, the

arguments of counsel, and the jury instructions did not make it

manifestly apparent to the jury that it could not base convictions for

both counts upon a single act. Thus, Mr. Stoll's constitutional right to

double jeopardy was violated.
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a. The failure to properly instruct the jury may result in
convictions that violate the constitutional protection against
double jeopardy.

The double jeopardy clause of the federal constitution provides

that no individual shall "be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb" for the

same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V; see U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

Similarly, article I, section 9 of our state constitution states, "No person

shall be ... twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." Const. art. I, §

9. Washington gives its constitutional provision against double

jeopardy the same interpretation that the United States Supreme Court

gives to the Fifth Amendment. In re Pers. Restraint ofOrange, 152

Wn.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). The double jeopardy clause

protects against multiple punishments for the same offense. North

Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 726, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed.

2d 656 (1969), overruled on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490

U.S. 794, 109 S. Ct. 2201, 104 L. Ed. 2d 865 (1989); State v. Mutch,

171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011).

A defendant's right to be free from double jeopardy is violated

if he is convicted of offenses that are identical both in fact and in law.

4 The Fifth Amendment's double jeopardy protection is applicable to the
States through the Fourteenth Amendment. Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784,
787, 89 S. Ct. 2056, 23 L. Ed. 2d 707 (1969).
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State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 777, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). The

double jeopardy clause bars multiple convictions arising out of the

same act even if concurrent sentences have been imposed. State v.

Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 775, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

The prohibition against double jeopardy must be paid special

attention where the charges include multiple acts against a single victim

over a single charging period. Because of the constitutional right to be

free from double jeopardy, a court's instructions must clearly inform

the jury that each crime requires proof of a different act. Mutch, 171

Wn.2d at 663 (citing State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 367, 165

P.M 417 (2007)). Where multiple counts are alleged, the jury must be

provided "sufficiently distinctive t̀o convict' instructions or an

instruction that each count must be based on a separate and distinct

criminal act." Id. at 662 (citing State v. Carter, 156 Wn. App. 561,

567, 234 P.3d 275 (2010); State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 934 -35,

198 P.3d 529 (2008)).

To prevent such multiple convictions from violating double

jeopardy, the jury must unanimously agree that at least one separate act

constitutes each charged offense. State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 842-

43, 809 P.2d 190 (1991); Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. at 367. "[I]n sexual
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abuse cases where multiple counts are alleged to have occurred within

the same charging period, the trial court must instruct the jury t̀hat they

are to find "separate and distinct acts" for each count."' Borsheim, 140

Wn. App. at 367 (quoting State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 431, 914

P.2d 788 (1996); Noltie, 116 Wn.2d at 848 -49)). Where the jury is not

instructed that it must find each count represents a separate and distinct

act from all other counts, double jeopardy may be violated. Mutch, 171

Wn.2d at 662 -63; Carter, 156 Wn. App. at 568 (reversing three counts

of rape in same charging period due to lack of "separate and distinct"

jury finding); Berg, 147 Wn. App. at 934 -37 (same holding for two

counts of rape); Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. at 370 -71 (same holding for

multiple counts of rape of a child in same charging period but only one

to convict" instruction); State v. Holland, 77 Wn. App. 420, 425, 891

P.2d 49, review denied, 127 Wn.2d 1008 (1995) (reversing convictions

for two counts of child molestation where it was impossible to conclude

that all twelve jurors agreed on same act to support convictions on each

count).

In the absence of proper jury instructions, reversal is required

unless it was " manifestlyg arent that the conviction for each count

was based on a separate act. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d at 664. Review is
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rigorous" and it will be "a rare circumstance" where the appellate

court should affirm despite deficient jury instructions. Id. at 664 -665.

Here, Mr. Stoll proposed that the "separate and distinct act"

language be included in the to- convict instructions. 10/2/12 RP 470-

72. The trial court denied his request. 10/2/12 RP 471 -74. It

purported to resolve the potential double jeopardy issue by moving the

unanimity instruction to follow the to- convict instructions. Id. As set

forth below, the omission of the separate and distinct acts language was

not resolved by the revised order.

This Court reviews challenges to jury instructions de novo.

Berg, 147 Wn. App. at 931.

b. The court's instructions to the jury failed to require that a
separate and distinct act form the basis for each count .

The jury instructions here were similar to those found lacking in

Mutch, Carter, and Borsheim. Mr. Stoll was charged with two counts

of rape of S.R.J. in the first degree, which was alleged to have occurred

over a single charging period. CP 40 -41 (to- convict instructions), 45-

46 (third amended information). Thus, absent clear jury instructions

the jury may have convicted Mr. Stoll of two offenses based on a single

act. Here, a jury instruction provided:
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A separate crime is charged in each count. You must
decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count
should not control your verdict on the other count.

CP 37 (instruction # 7). The same instruction was provided to the

juries in Mutch, Carter and Borsheim. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d at 662 -63;

Carter, 156 Wn. App. at 564 -65 & n.4; Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. at

364.

The court's instructions also included a unanimity instruction,

which failed to preclude consideration of the same act for each count:

The State alleges that the defendant committed acts of
rape of a child in the first degree on multiple occasions.
To convict the defendant on any count of rape of a child
in the first degree, one particular act of rape of a child in
the first degree must be proved beyond a reasonable
doubt and you must unanimously agree as to which act
has been proved. You need not unanimously agree that
the defendant committed all the acts of rape of a child in
the first degree.

CP 42 (instruction # 12). This is the instruction the court moved after

the to- convict instructions upon defendant's request for separate and

distinct acts language. 10/2/12 RP 472 -74. While this instruction

arguably protects against a non - unanimous verdict, it does not provide

direction that each offense must be based on separate and distinct acts.

See Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. at 366 & n.2 (describing distinction

between unanimity requirement and prohibition against double
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jeopardy). Again, a similar instruction was provided to the juries in

Mutch, Carter and Borsheim. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d at 663; Carter, 156

Wn. App. at 564 & n.3; Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. at 364.

The court's instructions failed to include the separate and

distinct acts language Mr. Stoll requested and as is advised by the

Washington pattern instructions. 10/2/12 RP 470 -74; WPIC 44.21

Note on Use (referencing WPIC 4.25) & Comment; WPIC 4.25

Comment.

Consequently, the to- convict instructions provided to the jury

did not instruct that each offense must be based on separate and distinct

acts. Rather, the to- convict instructions contained identical charging

periods and victim, and listed the elements of each offense. CP 40 -41.

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