No. 44265-5-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

SEAN STOLL , APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County
The Honorable Toni A. Sheldon, Judge

No. 08-1-00438-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. The jury instructions did not violate Stoll's constitutional rights to be free from double jeopardy. The instructions

State's Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

were flawed because the language defining the elements of each of the two charged counts was identical and there was no instruction that each count must be based upon an act that was separate and distinct from the other count. However, Stoll's conviction on both counts should be sustained because on the facts of this case it was manifestly apparent to the jury that each count was based upon a separate and distinct act.

The jury convicted Stoll of two counts of rape of a child in the first degree as charged in the third amended information. CP 24-25, 45-46. Count I alleged that Stoll committed acts constituting rape of a child in the first degree during a period between April 24, 2006, to March 31, 2007. CP 45. The language of count II was identical to that of count I, including the charging dates, except that count II included a statement that count II alleged an "act separate and distinct from the act alleged in count I." RP 46.

Jury Instructions No. 10 and 11 instructed the jury in regard to the elements that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt in regard to counts I and II, respectively. CP 40, 41. Instructions No. 10 and No. 11 were identical in every respect, and neither instruction contained language specifically informing the jury that each count referred to an act that was separate and distinct from the other count. *Id.* However, the

instructions as a whole correctly instructed the jury that “[a] separate crime is charged in each count” and that the jury “must decide each count separately.” CP 37 (Jury Instruction No. 7).

Stoll asserts that, because instructions No. 10 and No. 11 were identical, the instructions allowed the jury to return two guilty verdicts based upon the same criminal act, which was in violation of the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy. Appellant’s Opening Brief, p. 12. A criminal defendant is constitutionally protected against multiple punishments for the same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9; *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 772, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). A double jeopardy violation is an error of constitutional magnitude and may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 661, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Review is de novo. *Id.* at 661–62.

When the State presents evidence of multiple acts that could constitute more than one of the crimes charged, the trial court should instruct the jury that each count must be based on a separate and distinct act. *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 662-666, 254 P.3d 803 (2011); *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 846, 809 P.2d 190 (1991); *State v. Carter*, 156

State’s Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

Wn. App. 561, 565–67, 234 P.3d 275 (2010); *State v. Berg*, 147 Wn.App. 923, 931–35, 198 P.3d 529 (2008). Accordingly, the jury instructions in the instant case were flawed because the instructions did not include a separate and distinct acts instruction and, thus, could, at least theoretically, have permitted the jury to return both of its guilty verdicts based upon a single act. See, e.g., *Mutch* at 663. “However, flawed jury instructions that permit a jury to convict a defendant on multiple counts based on a single act do not necessarily mean that the defendant received multiple punishments for the same offense; it simply means that the defendant *potentially* received multiple punishments for the same offense.” *Id.* Thus, the mere potential that jury instructions might allow two convictions for the same act does not by itself constitute a double jeopardy violation. *Id.* “In order to violate federal and state double jeopardy standards, there must be multiple punishments for the ‘same offense.’” *Mutch* at 663, quoting *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 848.

Where, as here, the instructions do not inform the jury that each count must be based on a separate and distinct act, the reviewing court must determine whether the evidence, arguments, and instructions made the separate acts requirement “manifestly apparent to the jury.” *Mutch* at

664, quoting *Berg*, 147 Wn. App. at 931. If the separate acts requirement was not manifestly apparent to the jury, then the reviewing court must vacate the convictions that potentially violate double jeopardy. *Mutch* at 664.

The victim in the instant case revealed multiple acts of rape that occurred over a period of time. RP 276, 292-93, 415. But evidence of the details of these rapes was limited to two separate and distinct acts, which consisted of Stoll inserting his finger in the victim's anus in the one instance and inserting his penis into the victim's vagina in another instance. RP 274-78. On the facts of the instant case, each separate and distinct act of penetration constitutes a separate and distinct crime of rape of a child in the first degree. RCW 9A.44.010(1); RCW 9A.44.030. The State avers that there is virtually no possibility of the jury confusing the two acts. One act involved a finger; the other act involved a penis. One act involved insertion of an object, in this case a finger, into the anus; the other act involved the insertion of an object, in this case a penis, into the vagina. RP 274-78. The two acts are separate and distinct.

However, where a potential double jeopardy violation has occurred, the mere existence of independent evidence to support both

State's Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

convictions does not obviate the violation. Instead, a reviewing court must examine the entire record when considering a double jeopardy claim. “Considering the evidence, arguments, and instructions, if it is not clear that it was ‘*manifestly apparent* to the jury that the State [was] not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense’ and that each count was based on a separate act, there is a double jeopardy violation.” *Mutch* at 664–65 (alteration in original), quoting *State v. Berg*, 147 Wn. App. 923, 931, 198 P.3d 529 (2008). But, here, there is more than merely independent evidence to support each count; here, the evidence defines acts that are each factually separate and distinct from the other act -- in one act Stoll inserted his penis into the victim’s vagina, and in the other act Stoll inserted his finger into the victim’s anus. It is manifestly apparent that these two sets of facts are separate and distinct.

When two counts charge similar crimes, an ordinary juror would understand that each count requires proof of a different act. *State v. Ellis*, 71 Wn. App. 400, 406, 859 P.2d 632 (1993). In the instant case, the State avers that both of Stoll’s convictions for rape of a child in the first degree should be sustained, because the facts constituting each offense clearly constitute separate and distinct incidents, and any ordinary juror, when

presented with these facts, would understand that each of the two charged counts required proof of a different act. Thus, the lack of a jury instruction that each count must be based on a separate and distinct act would not result in a double jeopardy violation, because on these facts it would be “*manifestly apparent* to the jury that the State [was] not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense’ and that each count was based on a separate act.” *Mutch* at 664–65 (alteration in original), quoting *State v. Berg*, 147 Wn. App. 923, 931, 198 P.3d 529 (2008).

2. The trial court did not err by using the reasonable doubt jury instruction provided by WPIC 4.1 and including the optional “abiding belief” language.

The trial court instructed the jury on the definition of “reasonable doubt” as follows:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, after such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 33 (Jury Instruction No. 3). Stoll contends that it was error for the court to include the “abiding belief” language in the reasonable doubt

State’s Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

instruction. Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 23-26. Jury Instruction No. 3 is a verbatim reproduction of WPIC 4.1, which is provided by the Washington Supreme Court's Committee on Jury Instructions, as follows:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. *[If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.]*

11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 4.01 (3d ed.)(brackets and italics appear in original).

Washington courts are required to use WPIC 4.01 to define reasonable doubt for the jury, and no deviation from the pattern instruction is allowed. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 318, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). The language used by the court in Instruction No. 3 is taken directly from 11 *Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal* 4.01 (3d ed.) (WPIC) and has been expressly approved in numerous appellate decisions. *See State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995); *State v. Lane*, 56 Wn. App. 286, 299-301, 786 P.2d 277 (1989) (rejecting the argument that WPIC 4.01 dilutes the State's burden of proof); *State v. Mabry*, 51 Wn. App. 24, 751 P.2d 882 (1988) (cited with

State's Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

approval in *Pirtle*); *State v. Price*, 33 Wn. App. 472, 655 P.2d 1191 (1982).

3. Stoll alleges that there is insufficient evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that he has the ability to pay legal financial obligations, but Stoll failed to preserve this issue with an objection in the trial court. The State avers that, on the facts of this case, Stoll should not be allowed to raise this issue for the first time on appeal.

The trial court ordered Stoll to pay legal financial obligations in the amount of \$2,240.78. CP 12-13. These costs included the following statutorily mandated amounts: \$500.00 victim assessment (RCW 7.68.035); \$200 criminal filing fee (RCW 36.18.020(2)(h)); \$100 DNA collection fee (RCW 43.43.7541); and, the \$250.00 jury demand fee (RCW 10.46.190). CP 12-13. The court imposed the following discretionary fees: \$129.78 for witness costs (RCW 10.01.160) and \$1,061.00 for sheriff's service fees (RCW 10.01.160). CP 12-13. Mandatory costs must be imposed irrespective of the court's assessment of the defendant's ability to pay. See, *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166, 168 (1992), citing *State v. Q.D.*, 102 Wn.2d 19, 29, 685 P.2d 557 (1984). Discretionary costs, however, may only be imposed

State's Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

if the defendant has the ability to pay. RCW 10.01.160(3). Additionally, “[i]n determining the amount and method of payment of cost, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.” *Id.*

The judgment and sentence included boilerplate language, as follows:

The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant’s present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant’s financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant’s status will change.

CP 10. Following this language, a box was checked next to a specific boilerplate finding that Stoll “has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein.” CP 10.

Stoll did not object to the court’s imposition of these legal financial obligations. RP 533-34. Stoll raises this issue for the first time on appeal. Generally, a convicted criminal defendant may not raise issues related to legal financial obligations for the first time on appeal where the alleged error was not preserved by an objection at the trial court. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Blazina*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 301 P.3d 492 (No. 42728-1-II, May 21, 2013); *State v. Kuster*, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___ (No. 30548-1-III, July 11, 2013).

State’s Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

4. As a part of the judgment and sentence the trial court as a condition of community custody entered an order requiring Stoll to pay costs, which are yet to be determined, for crime-related counseling for the victim. Because the court has no statutory authority to order the payment of crime-related victim counseling as a part of community custody, the order should be stricken from the community custody conditions, and the trial court should be ordered to enter a restitution order for the payment of costs for crime-related victim counseling under RCW 9.94A.753.

Stoll's crimes of conviction in the instant case occurred during the charging period of April 24, 2006, and March 31, 2007. CP 40-41, 45-46. Following conviction, the trial court ordered legal financial obligations that included a finding that the total amount of legal financial obligation initially ordered by the court on the judgment and sentence did "not include all restitution... which may be set by later order of the court." CP 12-13. The judgment and sentence did not include a RCW 9.94A.753 restitution order for the costs of crime-related counseling for the victim. *Id.* However, condition (19) of Appendix H, which contained conditions of community custody, required Stoll to "pay for all counseling services/therapy costs incurred by his/her victim and members of his/her

immediate family as a direct result of his/her assault upon him/her as ordered by the Court[.]” CP 21.

Although a trial court may order an offender to pay the victim's counseling costs under a provision of the restitution statute, RCW 9.94A.753(3) and RCW 9.94A.505(7), it does not have statutory authority to impose payment of a victim's counseling costs as a condition of community custody. *See* former RCW 9.94A.712(5), (6)(a)(i); former RCW 9.94A.700(4), (5). Accordingly, the State must concede that condition (19) of Appendix H of Stoll's judgment and sentence should be stricken.

Stoll also avers that the trial court unconstitutionally delegated judicial authority to the probation department when it granted authority to the DOC to award restitution and to determine the amount to be paid. Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 31-34. If condition (19) were a delegation of judicial authority, the State would necessarily concede that the delegation was error. *See, e.g., State v. Summers*, 60 Wn.2d 702, 708, 375 P.2d 143 (1962); *see also State v. Forbes*, 43 Wn. App. 793, 800, 719 P.2d 941 (1986). However, the State avers that condition (19) does not delegate any authority to DOC; instead, condition (19) merely makes

State's Response Brief
Case No. 44265-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor
PO Box 639
Shelton, WA 98584
360-427-9670 ext. 417

payment of restitution “as ordered by the Court” a condition of community custody. CP 21. But in this case, restitution for counseling has not been ordered by the court; thus, there currently is no order of restitution to give effect to condition (19).¹

Because the court has no statutory authority to order the payment of crime-related victim counseling as a part of community custody, the order should be stricken from the community custody conditions, and the trial court should be ordered to enter a restitution order under RCW 9.94A.753 for the payment of costs for crime-related victim counseling.

5. As a condition of community custody, the trial court ordered that Stoll undergo plethysmograph testing at the direction of his community custody officer or his treatment provider. Plethysmograph testing is an important treatment tool, but it does not serve a monitoring purpose in regards to the conditions of community custody. Therefore, while the trial court appropriately ordered Stoll to undergo plethysmograph testing at the direction of his treatment provider, the court lacked statutory authority to order plethysmograph testing at the discretion of the community custody officer. The requirement that Stoll submit to plethysmograph testing

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